THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHEROKEE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

J. Mark Hayes Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Docket Case No. 2015-CP-11-0828
Appellate Case No. 2017-001466

RECEIVED
MAY 31 2018
SC Court of Appeals

Sharon Brown,

Appellant,

vs.

Cherokee County School District,

Respondent.

APPELLANT'S AMENDED FINAL BRIEF

FLETCHER N. SMITH JR. (S.C. Bar # 005165)
P.O. Box 10496, F.S.
Greenville, South Carolina 29603
(864)232-6541
(864)232-6756 Fax
fnsmith@bellsouth.net
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

OTHER COUNSELS OF RECORD:

ANDREA E. WHITE (S.C. Bar # 11891)
BRITTANY M. LOZANNE (S.C. Bar # 78720)
White & Story, LLC
P.O. Box 7036
Columbia, S.C. 29202

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. **WHETHER THERE WAS SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD TO SUPPORT A FINDING THAT MS. BROWN IS UNFIT TO TEACH?**
2. **WHETHER THE SCHOOL BOARD WAS A FAIR AND IMPARTIAL TRIBUNAL?**
3. **WHETHER APPELLANT'S PROCEDURAL DUE PROCESS RIGHTS AND DUE PROCESS RIGHTS GUARANTEED BY THE STATE'S CONSTITUTION AND STATUTES VIOLATED?**
 - (A.) **BECAUSE SUPERINTENDENT QUINCIE MOORE, IN HER AUGUST 11, 2015 LETTER, DID NOT PUT APPELLANT ON NOTICE IN THE PROPOSED CANCELLATION LETTER OF SPECIFIC ALLEGATIONS OF TRACIE WILSON SO APPELLANT COULD FORMULATE HER DEFENSE AGAINST THE FALSE ALLEGATIONS.**
 - (B.) **BECAUSE SUPERINTENDENT DR. QUINCIE MOORE VIOLATED SOUTH CAROLINA TEACHER EMPLOYMENT AND DISMISSAL ACT (SECTION 59-25-460), WHICH MANDATES THAT ALL REASONS FOR PROPOSED CANCELLATION OF APPELLANT'S CONTRACT BE DISCLOSED TO APPELLANT IN THE PROPOSED CANCELLATION LETTER.**
 - (C.) **BECAUSE THE BOARD'S DECISION FOR TERMINATION WENT BEYOND THE REASONS OUTLINED IN DR. QUINCIE MOORES' AUGUST 11, 2015 LETTER TO APPELLANT, GIVEN THAT APPELLANT WAS NOT GIVEN ANY SPECIFIC INFORMATION IN DR. MOORE'S AUGUST 11, 2015 LETTER TO APPELLANT OF SPECIFIC ALLEGATIONS OF TRACIE WILSON.**
4. **WHETHER DR. QUINCE MOORE PRESENTED SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE THAT BROWN LIED TO HER AT THE MEETING ON JULY 31, 2015 THAT SHE WAS CALLED TO?**
5. **WHETHER THERE ARE TOO MANY CONFLICTING ACCOUNTS GIVEN BY THE RESPONDENT AND ITS ATTORNEY ABOUT A DIRECTIVE THAT DR. CARL CARPENTER, DIRECTOR OF HUMAN RESOURCES, ALLEGES TO HAVE GIVEN APPELLANT ON JULY 31, 2015?**
6. **WHETHER A SCHOOL BOARD DECISION MADE IN VIOLATION OF ITS OWN POLICIES AND RULES WAS IMPROPER, ARBITRARY AND CAPRICIOUS IN VIOLATION OF THE DUE PROCESS CLAUSES OF BOTH THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED STATE'S CONSTITUTION AND THE CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA?**
 - (A.) **A VIOLATION OF SCHOOL BOARD POLICY INCORPORATED INTO AN EMPLOYMENT CONTRACT, CONSTITUTE AN ACTIONABLE BREACH OF CONTRACT.**
7. **WHETHER CHARGES BROUGHT BY CHEROKEE COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT SUPERINTENDENT AGAINST BROWN ARE MOOT GIVEN THAT THE ALLEGED VICTIM CONFIRMED THAT BROWN NEVER TOUCHED HIM?**
8. **WHETHER THERE WAS AN ABSENCE OF SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE IN FINDING THAT BROWN'S SPEAKING TO A COWORKER AFTER HER SUPERVISOR HAD COMPLETED THEIR INVESTIGATION JUSTIFIED HER TERMINATION FOR BEING UNFIT AS A TEACHER?**

9. WHETHER THERE WAS SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE THAT BROWN WAS SUFFICIENTLY INSUBORDINATE TO WARRANT DISMISSAL BY THE SCHOOL BOARD?

10. WHETHER THERE WAS SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE THAT BROWN IMPERMISSIBLY ASSAULTED A STUDENT?

11. WHETHER THE DISTRICT PROVED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE WITH THE ALLEDED VICTIM HIMSELF/PARENTS/MEDICAL PERSONEL/PSYCHOLOGISTS THAT THE ALLEGATION OF CHILD ABUSE OF TOUCHING WERE ACTUALLY TRUE, NOT MERELY THAT THE CHILD ABUSE "INAPPROPRIATE INTERATIONS" ALLEGATIONS WERE MADE?

12. WHETHER APPELLANT SHOULD HAVE BEEN EXPECTED TO ADMIT SOMETHING SHE ASSERTS DID NOT OCCUR AND HER INSISTENCE ON HER INNOCENCE SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN WEIGHED AGAINST HER BY THE SCHOOL BOARD?

13. WHETHER THE LOWER COURT JUDGE COMMITTED ERROR IN UPHOLDING THE BOARD'S UNFAIR FINDING OF FACTS AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW WHERE THE BOARD MISTAKED FACTS AND ENGAGED IN EX PARTE COMMUNICATIONS WITHOUT BROWN'S KNOWLEDGE BECAUSE CONDUCT CALLS INTO QUESTION THE DECISION OF THE BOARD AS BEING INHERENTLY BIAS AGAINST BROWN A CONTRACT TEACHER?

14. WHETHER THE PUNISHMENT OF THE BOARD IMPOSED UPON THE APPELLANT BY THE BOARD EXCESSIVE?

15. WHETHER THE LOWER COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR BY FAILING TO RULE THAT DURING THE SUMMER MONTHS WHEN SCHOOL WAS OUT, BROWN WAS NOT UNDER A CONTRACT WITH THE CHEROKEE COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT, AND THEREFORE SHE HAD NO DUTIES OR OBLIGATIONS TO PERFORM ON BEHALF OF CHEROKEE COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT DURING THE SUMMER MONTHS? BROWN'S 190 DAY TEACHING CONTRACT FOR THE 2014-2015 SCHOOL TERM ENDED ON JUNE 3, 2015.

16. WHETHER LOWER COURT JUDGE COMMITTED A REVERSIBLE ERROR WHEN HE RULED ON BROWN'S TEACHER DISMISSAL APPEAL AND FOUND SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT BROWN'S DISCHARGE WITHOUT CHEROKEE COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT BOARD OF TRUSTEES EVER HAVING FILED THE TRANSCRIPT OF THE TEACHER DISMISSAL HEARING WITH THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS AS MANDATED BY SECTION 59-25-480 OF S.C. TEACHER EMPLOYMENT AND DISMISSAL ACT?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter is before the Court on the appeal of Sharon Brown (hereinafter "Appellant") from the decisions of the Honorable J. Mark Hayes dated July 25, 2016 and June 12, 2017. (R. pp. 1-6).

This teacher appeal was commenced by the Appellant against the Defendant Cherokee County School District (CCSD) by filing of Notice of Intent to Appeal and an Appeal Brief on November 5, 2015. (R. pp. 7-20). At the time of the filing, the transcript had not been prepared by the Court Reporter that attended the teacher dismissal hearing on October 7, 2015.

On November 13, 2015, Appellant filed an Amended Appeal Brief after receipt of the transcript. (R. pp. 22-23). Thereafter, on December 1, 2015, Cherokee County School District (CCSD) filed the Answer and Return of Respondent Cherokee County School District. (R. pp. 49-51). On January 22, 2016, approximately 52 days after CCSD filed the Answer and Return of Respondent Cherokee County School District, CCSD filed Respondent's Brief In Opposition To Appeal and In Support of Board's Decision. (R. pp. 79-107). On January 25, 2016, Appellant filed Second Amended Appeal Brief. (R. pp. 52-74). Appellant's Second Amended Brief consisted of an additional section having been added to the grounds on appeal (along with an argument for the additional ground). A Memorandum In Support of Appellant's Second Amended Appeal Brief was filed on June 17, 2016. (R. pp. 108-125). On June 16, 2016, Respondent served an Amended Brief (dated June 16, 2016) In Opposition to Appeal and In Support of Board's Decision. (R. pp. 142-172). On June 20, 2016 Appellant's counsel filed "Brief of Appellant" which is dated June 18, 2016. (R. pp. 173-200). Thereafter, on July 25, 2016, the Honorable J. Mark Hayes dismissed Appellant's Teacher Appeal. (R. pp. 1-3). On August 5, 2016, Appellant filed a Motion for Reconsideration. (R. pp. 201-204). On August 18, 2016 Appellant filed a Memorandum In Support of Motion to Reconsider and on August 30, 2016 Appellant filed a Supplemental Memorandum In Support of Motion to Reconsider. (R. pp. 219-231). On June 12, 2017 the Honorable Mark J. Hayes denied Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration and Dismissed Appellant's appeal. (R. pp. 4-6).

The Appellant, Sharon Brown, worked from August 1, 1999 to October 7, 2015 with the subject employer (Cherokee County School District), most recently as a second grade teacher. (R. p. 416, lines 2-4; R. p. 416, lines 8-10). The Appellant was terminated effective October 7, 2015 for conduct violations. (R. pp. 127-137). At the time of this action, Ms. Brown was in her seventeenth year of teaching experience with Cherokee County School District (CCSD). (R. p. 416, lines 8-10). Ms. Brown has never had any special conditions or stipulations on any of her teaching contracts with Cherokee County School District in her seventeen years of employment.

Ms. Brown has a bachelor's of science degree in criminal justice, a master's degree in elementary education, a master's degree in reading, and an educational specialist degree in school administration. (R. p. 430, lines 16-22). She is certified as an elementary teacher, reading teacher, reading consultant, elementary principal, and an elementary supervisor. Ms. Brown was employed by Respondent to teach a second grade class during the 2014-2015 school term at Luther Vaughn Elementary School. On June 1, 2015, two days before the last day of school, Ms. Brown met with Dr. Carl Carpenter (Dr. Carpenter) the Director of Human Resources for Cherokee County School District and the principal of Luther Vaughn Elementary, Ms. Nanette Ruppe (Ms. Ruppe) concerning an allegation of child abuse.

Initially, Dr. Carpenter did not tell Ms. Brown why they were meeting with her. Dr. Carpenter started the meeting by asking Ms. Brown questions about Student J's family. Throughout this appeal brief I will refer to the student as Student J. Later in the meeting, Dr. Carpenter informed Ms. Brown that he had an allegation of child abuse reported by Justin Kelly (Mr. Kelly), an art teacher at Luther Vaughn Elementary, concerning Student J. Dr. Carpenter asked Ms. Brown to give him a statement concerning the allegation of child abuse and what happened that day. Additionally, Dr. Carpenter asked had anyone seen Ms. Brown talking with the student outside the art room. Ms. Brown informed him that Mrs. Beth Owens (Ms. Owens) had passed by. Ms. Brown never told Dr. Carpenter that Mrs. Owens was a witness for her. She just said that Ms. Owens and her husband had passed by. Ms. Brown is aware of Mrs. Owen's dislike

for her. (R. p. 420, lines 2-8). During this meeting with Dr. Carpenter and Ms. Ruppe, Ms. Brown informed Dr. Carpenter that Ms. Tracie Wilson was in the art room.

When the meeting was over with Dr. Carpenter and Ms. Ruppe, Ms. Brown requested a copy of the allegations that Justin Kelly made against her. Initially, Dr. Carpenter said he would e-mail Ms. Brown a copy of Justin Kelly's statement. However, Ms. Ruppe said she would make a copy. Ms. Brown received a copy of the allegations made by Justin Kelly. After the meeting was concluded, Ms. Brown was escorted to her classroom to get her purse and rolling cart and was escorted off the premises by the principal.

There was no third party administrative and/or law enforcement agency notification of any kind by the district officials or employees concerning the alleged attack by Appellant upon the student. (R. p. 286, lines 3-10). The alleged child victim simply returned to his class, according to the employer witness and no substantive follow-up thereafter relative to the matter. Additionally, the child gave two statements that the Appellant never touched him and stated that Ms. Brown was a nice teacher. (R. p. 450, lines 12-13; R. p. 451, lines 13-14)

The Appellant was not made aware of the allegation until June 1, 2015 when the Appellant was summoned to meet with among others, the Human Resource Director (Dr. Carpenter); the other employer witness participating in the Teacher Dismissal Hearing.

According to Ruby Byers, guidance counselor for Luther Vaughn Elementary School, on May 29, at approximately 3:10 p.m., Justin Kelly (Mr. Kelly), the art teacher, came to her office and told her that he witnessed a teacher doing something disturbing and he wanted to tell her about it so that he would get advice on what to do. Ms. Byers states, "he told me that the day before (Thursday), he saw Miss Brown shoving a student up against the wall and squeezing his lower face and neck with her hands and yelling at him outside the art room. (R. p. 467, lines 2-5).

Dr. Carpenter contends that at time of the June 1, 2015 meeting, he placed the Appellant, Sharon Brown on administrative leave for the duration of the subsequent investigation and verbally informed the Appellant not to have any contact with District employees or students during her leave; The Appellant maintains that she has no recollection of that specific directive. (R. p. 427, lines 24-p. 428, line 1; R.p. 438, lines 3-9).

A June 1, 2015 letter was forwarded certified mail to the Appellant, whose receipt of same was not until June 11, 2015; all parties stipulated to the date of receipt as in fact having been June 11, 2015. (R.p. 477; R. p. 417, lines 13-17; R. p. 345 line 24-p. 346, lines 1-6).

The letter, although stating that the Appellant, Sharon Brown, was restricted from going on any school property without expressed permission and/or having any contact with school district employees or students in any manner while on leave, failed to memorialize the June 1, 2015 meeting relative to latter of the two (2) directives contained in the letter.

In the interim and on June 5, 2015, The Appellant acknowledged that she had a chance meeting with Ms. Tracie Wilson, who was in the art room on May 28, 2015, in a Ross Department Store in Spartanburg S.C.

On July 31, 2015 The Appellant, Appellant's mother, Superintendent Dr. Moore , Dr. Carpenter, and counsel for the employer met wherein the Appellant was informed that her encounter with the co-worker in the department store had significantly and adversely impacted the District's ability to complete its investigation into the May 28, 2015 incident; this, irrespective of the fact that the District had already secured a signed statement from the co-worker, Tracie Wilson, on June 1, 2015. (R. p. 343, lines 4-9).

By letter dated August 11, 2015, the employer informed the Appellant that the District deemed her to have been dishonest in her reporting the facts, questioned her denial of the May 28, 2015 incident and recommended her dismissal to the District Board of Trustees. After the completion of the hearing and within the statutory time limit, the Board notified Ms. Brown that good and sufficient reasons for

terminating her exists because, by her conduct, she manifested an evident unfitness for teaching. The board goes on to say that "South Carolina Code of Law, Sections 59-19-90(ii), 59-25-430. Those reasons and manifested unfitness for teaching are based upon Ms. Brown's inappropriate interactions with a student; her insubordination regarding the directive she received from the administration, and her dishonesty in responding to questions from the Superintendent." The appellant was formally terminated effective October 7, 2015. (R. p. 136, lines 11-16).

ARGUMENT

I. WHETHER THERE WAS SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD TO SUPPORT A FINDING THAT MS. BROWN IS UNFIT TO TEACH?

Dr. Quincie Moore, in her notice to Ms. Brown that a recommendation would be made for the termination of her contract, specifically stated that the action was being taken under South Carolina Code Section 59-25-430.

That section states in part that:

any teacher may be dismissed at any time who shall fail, or may be incompetent, to give instruction in accordance with the directions of the superintendent, or shall otherwise manifest an evident unfitness for teaching; provided, however, that notice and an opportunity shall be afforded for a hearing prior to any dismissal.

in section 59-25-440, that:

whenever a superior, principal, where applicable, or supervisor charged with the supervision of a teacher finds it necessary to admonish a teacher for a reason that he believes may lead to, or be cited as a reason for dismissal, or cause the teacher not to be reemployed, he shall (1.) bring the matter in writing to the attention of the teacher involved and make a reasonable effort to assist the teacher to correct whatever appears to be the cause of potential dismissal or failure to be reemployed and (2.) except as provided in Section 59-24-450, allow reasonable time for improvement

The South Carolina Supreme Court in *Adams vs. Clarendon County School District, No. Two*, 270 S.C. 266, 241 S.E.2d 897 (1978) analyzed the two circumstances under the Act for which a teacher may be terminated. As noted by the Court, one category is provided for in Section 59-24-430 and the other is provided for in Section 59-24-440. *Id.* at p. 900. The two sections apply to different categories of grounds for dismissal. Under Section 59-25-430, a teacher may be dismissed at any time subject to the

rights of notice and a hearing. However, under Section 59-25-440, a reason which may lead to termination does not become a "good and sufficient" reason, thereby justifying termination, until after a reasonable time for improvement has been allowed. *Id.* It is, therefore, the failure to improve which constitutes the good and sufficient reasons for termination.

The evidence of record reveals that the purpose of the hearing was to hear evidence in support of and in opposition to the recommendation that Ms. Brown's contract be terminated. The recommendation was based solely on section 59-25-430 which requires a finding of unfitness to teach. The Board cannot argue that the evidence showed a good and sufficient reason under 59-24-430 because Ms. Brown did not willfully and intentionally disregard a directive. *See Hall vs. The Board of Trustees of Sumter School District Number Two* 330 S.C. 402, 499 S.E. 2d 216 (S.C. Court of Appeals). Ms. Brown does not recall Dr. Carpenter telling her on June 1, 2015 not to have contact with District employees or students while on administrative leave. (R. p. 151, line 24-p. 152, line 5). It is reasonable that any educator called to a meeting and told that there is an accusation of child abuse against him/her would be devastated and in the state of shock when the allegation has been totally fabricated.

Ms. Brown was placed on administrative leave on June 1, 2015. (R. p. 456, lines 1-2). She did not receive the certified letter from Dr. Carpenter until June 11, 2015. (R. p. 477). The letter from Dr. Carpenter was mailed one day before the last day of school June 3, 2015. The letter indicates that Ms. Brown was being placed on administrative leave for allegedly grabbing a student by his lower jaw and throat and forcing his body against the wall. (R. p. 456, lines 2-3). Further, the letter instructs Ms. Brown not to have any contact with school district employees or students in any manner while on administrative leave. It is to be noted that there are discrepancies in regard to what Dr. Carpenter stated, during the board hearing, he told Ms. Brown in the meeting with her on June 1, 2015 and what Ms. Ruppe said Dr. Carpenter told Ms. Brown at the meeting with her on June 1, 2015. Dr. Carpenter testified before the board that, "she (referring to Ms. Brown) was told that she was supposed to have no contact with employees or students." (R. p. 56, lines 18-19). Ms. Ruppe testimony before the board, in part, was that

Ms. Brown was told "not to discuss anything about the case with anyone." (R. p. 313, lines 16-19). Ms. Ruppe's statement of what was said by Dr. Carpenter during the June 1, 2015 meeting with Ms. Brown does not confirm that Dr. Carpenter actually told Ms. Brown not to have contact with any employees or students during the meeting with Ms. Brown on June 1, 2015. Even if Dr. Carpenter told Ms. Brown not to have contact with any employees, Ms. Brown did not willfully and intentionally disobey a directive. Ms. Brown does not recall Dr. Carpenter telling her not to have contact with employees and students on June 1, 2015.

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