THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHEROKEE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable J. Mark Hayes Jr.
Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2015-CP-11-0828
Appellate Case No. 2017-001466

RECEIVED
JAN 23 2018
SC Court of Appeals

Sharon Brown..... Appellant,

v.

Cherokee County School District.....Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Andrea E. White (S.C. Bar # 11891)
Brittany M. Lozanne (S.C. Bar # 78720)
White & Story, LLC
P.O. Box 7036
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
Telephone: 803.814.0993
Facsimile: 803.814.1183

Attorneys for Respondent

January 22, 2018
Columbia, South Carolina

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

C. Brown's unfitness for teaching was manifested by her willful disregard of the directive given to her by the District administration.

Two witnesses – Ruppe, the school Principal, and Carpenter, the Director of Human Resources – told the Board that Brown was directed not to talk with other District personnel while the incidents with Student J were under investigation. Carpenter issued the directive orally to Brown at his interview of her on June 1, which Ruppe witnessed. Carpenter and Ruppe also testified to the Board that Brown seemed to understand the directive and had no questions about it. To document that he instructed Brown not to speak with other District personnel, Carpenter sent a letter to Brown that same day reiterating the same instructions. Brown claims that she does not recall hearing Carpenter tell her not to speak with other District personnel during the pendency of the investigation. She also testified that she did not receive the letter from Carpenter until June 11. Nevertheless, substantial evidence in the record exists that Carpenter told Brown not to speak with other District personnel and that Brown heard and understood the directive.

Substantial evidence in the record also exists that Wilson, who was present in Kelly's art classroom on May 28 when Brown took Student J from the art class into the hallway, told the Board that Brown spoke to her about the situation with Student J at Ross Department Store on June 5. According to Wilson's written statement and her testimony to the Board, Brown

herself raised the topic of Student J and the fact that Carpenter would be calling Wilson. Brown admits that she brought up the subject of Kelly's allegation regarding Student J in her conversation with Wilson, but denied she discussed the incidents involving him. Wilson, however, told the Board that Brown said, more than once, that she was not supposed to be discussing this topic with Wilson, in response to which Wilson repeatedly told Brown not to continue to discuss it, to no avail. Wilson described to the Board how Brown attempted to convince her of what happened to the student on May 28, 2015, with Brown arguing with Wilson about what she believed the events of May 28 to be. Brown argues that discrepancies between the written statements and testimony of the witnesses destroy their credibility. Initially, the written statements and testimony of witnesses are not verbatim, nor are they required to be. The written statements and testimony before the Board are entirely consistent in this case, however; any differences are minor and irrelevant to the issue of whether Brown discussed the situation concerning Student J with Wilson. Second, and more importantly, this Court is limited in its review to finding whether substantial evidence exists to support the findings of the Board. The Court may not weigh the evidence or make assessments of witness credibility without exceeding the scope of its judicial review. *Felder*, 327 S.C. at 25 (court exceeded the scope of judicial review when it disregarded the testimony of a witness which conflicted with that of the teacher). Issues of witness credibility have no place in this appeal; Brown's arguments on the credibility of Wilson and other witnesses must be disregarded.

Substantial evidence exists that Brown was instructed not to discuss the situation with other District personnel during the investigation, and that she heard and understood that directive. Substantial evidence also exists in the record that, despite this directive, Brown attempted to tell Wilson what to say to Carpenter, thus interfering with and undermining

Carpenter's investigation. Brown's reliance on the case of *Hall v. Bd of Trustees of Sumter Cnty. Sch. Dist. No. 2*, 330 S.C. 402, 410, 499 S.E.2d 216, 220 (1998) to argue that her insubordination was insufficient to terminate her is misplaced. In finding that the Sumter School Board did not have substantial evidence to terminate Hall for insubordination, the Court specifically noted that the Board did not have evidence before it to conclude that Hall attempted to undermine the investigation into her behavior on a student field trip. Here, the Board was presented with substantial evidence that Brown clearly tried to tell Wilson what she should say to Carpenter. (R. at 365, line 9 – R. at 367, line 23). Because substantial evidence supports the Board's decision that Brown was insubordinate by willfully and intentionally disregarding a directive given to her in an effort to undermine the District's investigation, the Circuit Court's decision affirming the Board's decision to terminate Brown should be upheld.

D. Brown's unfitness for teaching was manifested by her dishonesty in responding to questions by the District Superintendent.

Moore told the Board that, following her investigation and the investigation of Carpenter and Ruppe, she concluded that Kelly and Owens had witnessed two separate encounters in which each saw Brown place her hands on Student J in an inappropriate manner. She also concluded, and told the Board, that Brown, in denying that she touched Student J in any manner, was dishonest when Moore questioned her about those encounters. Moore further concluded that Wilson, who had no reason to lie, had been truthful in recounting her conversation with Brown at the Ross store on June 5, and that Brown, in denying that she discussed the situation concerning Student J with Wilson, was dishonest when Dr. Moore questioned her about it.

S.C. Code Ann. § 59-25-430 contains a non-exclusive list of reasons a teacher may be immediately terminated because of an evident unfitness to teach, which list specifically

includes dishonesty. The testimony from Moore, along with the other evidence reviewed by the Board, provide substantial evidence that Brown was dishonest in responding to questioning from Moore and was a sufficient reason for the Board to terminate her.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT THE DISTRICT COMPLIED WITH THE DUE PROCESS REQUIREMENTS OF THE TEACHER EMPLOYMENT AND DISMISSAL ACT AND DID NOT VIOLATE ANY CONSTITUTIONAL OR STATUTORY PROVISIONS.

A. Brown’s Statements of Issues on Appeal Are Procedurally Improper.

Rule 208(b)(1)(B), SCACR states: “A statement of each of the issues presented for review . . . shall be concise and direct as to each issue Broad general statements may be disregarded by the appellate court. Ordinarily, no point will be considered which is not set forth in the statement of the issues on appeal.” “Every ground of appeal ought to be so distinctly stated that the reviewing court may at once see the point which it is called upon to decide without having to ‘grope in the dark’ to ascertain the precise point at issue.” *Jones v. Lott*, 387 S.C. 339, 346, 692 S.E.2d 900, 903 (2010). Issues on appeal which are not concise and direct, but rather broad general statements of error without reference to the legal principles involved, ought to be disregarded by this Court. *Id.* at 348.

Brown’s Statement of the Issues on Appeal are improper because they do not clearly state the alleged reversible error or the legal principles involved. For this reason, the Court need not consider these claims of error and may affirm on the ground that the Circuit Court’s decision is supported by substantial evidence. *Id.* at 346 (“Under the two-issue rule; where a decision is based on more than one ground, the appellate court will affirm unless the appellant appeals all grounds because the unappealed ground will become the law of the case.”).

B. Brown Cannot Point to Any Evidence that the Board Denied her Due Process or Violated any Constitutional or Statutory Provisions.

As stated in *Singleton v. Horry County Sch. Dist.*, 289 S.C. 223, 227, 345 S.E.2d 751, 753 (Ct. App. 1986), “[c]ourts will not interfere with the exercise of discretion by school boards in matters committed by law to their judgment unless there is clear evidence that the board acted corruptly, in bad faith or in clear abuse of its power.” Our Supreme Court reiterated that standard in *Young v. Charleston County Sch. Dist.*, 397 S.C. 303, 725 S.E.2d 107 (2012), citing to S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380 in holding that a court may not review substantive determinations of a school board, but only whether the teacher was afforded the process due her under the State Constitution and applicable state law. Here, there is no evidence as required by S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380 for the Court to overturn the Board’s decision, that the Board violated any constitutional or statutory provisions; exceeded its statutory authority; or that its decision to terminate Brown was made upon unlawful procedure.

Initially, Brown was provided all the rights afforded to her by the procedures set forth in TEDA. She participated in a lengthy evidentiary hearing before the Board in which she was represented by counsel and had the opportunity to present witnesses and evidence on her behalf and was provided the opportunity to question the District’s witnesses. The Board further had statutory authority under TEDA to hear the matter and make a decision based on the evidence and its conclusions. S.C. Code Ann. § 59-25-470.

Brown asserts that the Board’s decision violated constitutional and statutory provisions as follows: (a) the Board was not impartial during the hearing; (b) she did not receive sufficient written notice of the grounds for Moore’s recommendation of her termination; (c) she was denied equal protection because the District did not instruct other District employees not to talk with Brown during the investigation into Brown’s conduct; (d) she was denied her right to freedom of speech when she was instructed not to talk with anyone during the course of the

District's investigation; (e) the Board's decision to terminate her was excessive punishment; (f) Wilson's testimony to the Board was coerced or bribed; (g) she failed to receive a fair hearing because the District did not bring Student J to the hearing; and (h) the Board was not impartial because, prior to her hearing, Brown had "reported incidents of racism and retaliation to the district and made Whistle Blower claims of racism and retaliation to the government, prior to the board hearing" and, further, that the Board had "animosity towards Appellant's reinstatement to her teaching position by the local court in late 2011." (R. at 166).

1. Impartiality of the Board

"School board members are clothed with a presumption of honesty and integrity in the discharge of their decision-making responsibilities." *Felder*, 327 S.C. at 21. To demonstrate a denial of due process, a teacher must show an actual bias, rather than the mere potential for bias. *Id.*

Here, Brown asserts that one Board member closed her eyes during the hearing and another asked questions. Neither assertion demonstrates actual bias. Rather, the fact that a Board member asked questions during the hearing indicates that the member wanted to have all the relevant facts before deciding whether to uphold Moore's recommendation for Brown's termination. Likewise, the fact that a Board member may have closed her eyes during a four hearing does not demonstrate actual bias.

Brown also argues that the Board improperly considered evidence outside the hearing process. (R. at 168). However, in support of that argument, Brown cites to testimony during the hearing from Owens, Ruppe, and Moore. (R. at 168-70). Brown points to no evidence that the Board conducted its own independent investigation or that it otherwise made its decision

to uphold Moore's recommendation on anything but the evidence presented during the October 7, 2015 hearing.

2. Insufficient Notice of Grounds for Termination

Section 59-25-460 of TEDA states that no teacher shall be dismissed unless "written notice specifying the cause of dismissal is first given the teacher...." Contrary to Brown's assertion, TEDA does not require that the notice of dismissal set forth all the facts upon which the recommendation for termination is based. Moore's letter of August 11, 2015, sufficiently enumerated the three separate grounds upon which her recommendation for Brown's termination was based: that she inappropriately interacted with a student; that she willfully violated a directive; and that she was dishonest in her conversations with Moore, each of which independently manifests an evident unfitness to teach. Such notice satisfies the requirement of S.C. Code § 59-25-460, as well as the general due process principle that a public employee facing termination has the right to know the charges against her. *Cleveland Board of Education v. Loudermill, et al.*, 470 U.S. 532 (1985).

3. Equal Protection

Brown did not raise before the Board her claim that she was denied equal protection and is thus precluded from raising it in her appeal. *See Ross v. Medical Univ. of South Carolina*, 317 S.C. 377, 453 S.E.2d 880 (1994) (an administrative appeal must be confined to the record except in cases of alleged irregularities in the procedure before the agency not apparent on the record).

Assuming, *arguendo*, that Brown was not required to raise her equal protection claim to the Board, she does not properly state such a claim. The obligation to provide due process requires that no person shall be denied equal protection of the law. U.S. CONST. AMEND.

XIV, § 1; S.C. Const. art. I, § 3. “The *sine qua non* of an equal protection claim is a showing that similarly situated persons received disparate treatment.” *Grant v. S.C. Coastal Council*, 319 S.C. 348, 354, 461 S.E.2d 388, 391 (1995); *Town_of Hollywood v. Floyd*, 403 S.C. 466, 480, 744 S.E.2d 161, 168 (2013). Here, Brown does not identify the law or protection she is invoking regarding her claim that she was treated differently, other than to claim that she was told that she could not speak to other District employees while others were not so restricted. That assertion is insufficient to set forth an equal protection claim.

4. Freedom of Speech

Public employees are protected by the First Amendment to the U.S. Constitution only when they are speaking out on a matter of public concern. *See Garcetti v. Ceballos*, 547 U.S. 410, 418 (2006); *See also Urofsky v. Gilmore*, 216 F.3d 401, 407 (4th Cir. 2000) (en banc). If “an employee’s speech regards a matter of personal interest rather than of public concern, it is unnecessary for the Court to scrutinize the basis for [the] termination.” *Urofsky*, 216 F.3d at 407. If the speech does not involve a matter of public concern, “the employee has no First Amendment cause of action based on his or her employer’s reaction to the speech.” *Id.* (citing *Connick v. Myers*, 461 U.S. 138, 147 (1983)). Brown argues that the District abridged her right to freedom of speech when Carpenter told her that she could not discuss her employment situation with other employees. Brown’s employment status was not a matter of public concern and she cannot state a claim for a violation of her First Amendment rights.

5. Excessive Punishment

TEDA provides that when a school board finds that the evidence shows good and sufficient cause for dismissal, the board “shall render its decision accordingly, either affirming or withdrawing the notice of suspension or dismissal”. S.C. Code Ann. § 59-25-470. Here, the

Board found that Moore presented such evidence, and exercised its statutory authority to uphold Brown's dismissal. There is no evidence upon which this Court could conclude that the Board's "punishment" of Brown was excessive.

6. Bribery or Coercion of Wilson

This assertion was not raised before the Board or in any of Brown's prior filings with the Court. Accordingly, she is precluded from raising it now. *Ross*, 317 S.C. at 381; *see also Staubes v. City of Folly Beach*, 339 S.C. 406, 529 S.E.2d 543 (2000) (it is well-settled law that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal). Further, Brown does not cite to any evidence supporting this absurd claim.

7. Student J's Absence

This assertion was not raised before the Board or in any of Brown's prior filings with the Court. Accordingly, she is precluded from raising it now. *Ross* 317 S.C. at 381; *Staubes*, 339 S.C. at 412. Further, had Brown wished to have Student J at the hearing, she could have compelled his presence pursuant to the provisions of S.C. Code Ann. § 59-25-460.

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